Visitors Promotion Committee
Special Meeting
May 29, 2019
MINUTES

In attendance: Lynne Ireland, Becky Perrett, Jeff Cunningham, Amy Dickerson, Aaron Stitt, Susan
Madsen, Roma Amundson, Roland Morgan and Kerry Eagan

Staff attending: Jeff Maul, Derek Feyerherm, Todd Wiltgen and Diane Pryor

Guests attending: Rick Vest, Dennis Meyer, Jennifer Cusick-Rawlinson, Kendra Ronnau and Hoyt Kraeger

Call to Order and Introductions:
Lynne Ireland called the meeting to order at 1:01 p.m. and introductions were made.

Prior to hearing the grant request from the Lancaster Event Center (LEC), Lynne Ireland asked Dennis Meyer
to explain the funds in the Visitors Improvement Fund. He walked everyone through it first explaining how it
runs on a fiscal year. There are $605,200 in committed projects remaining to be paid out in FY19. Estimated
bid fees are at $339,800 and there are five grants equaling $50,000 estimated of the ten budgeted for in all
future fiscal years. Meyer showed in the next six years the first three years of those six funds are going to be
tight. There is $4,776,488 in committed expenditures and just $3,785,000 in estimated revenue. Beginning in
FY22 things turn around and the swing in revenue for the following three years is estimated at $5,650,000
with only $2,069,400 in total committed expenditures. There were a couple questions to Jeff Maul asking if he
knew of any other requests we have committed to and he said there has been no applications and anything
official after FY21; however, there would be more made based on conversations with various applicants, he
said. The bottom line showed the balance in the fund through FY21 is $148,896.

Being no further questions or comments, Ireland welcomed the presenters from the Lancaster Event Center
— Amy Dickerson, Hoyt Kraeger and Jennifer Cusick-Rawlinson.

Lancaster County Event Center Grant Request:

Cusick-Rawlinson introduced herself and told about the recent events of the Ag Society and the positive
feedback they have had. She told the group about everything the Lancaster Event Center has that the
National High School Rodeo will need in a facility — access roads, buildings, stands, campgrounds, etc.
She introduced Amy Dickerson and Hoyt Kraeger to everyone and told a little about what they do and how
good they are at their jobs. Kraeger told the group what the National High School Finals Rodeo (NHSFR)
is. It is the world’s largest rodeo with 1,700 high school contestants from 43 states, 5 Canada provinces,
Mexico and Australia. It is a 10-day event with 13 performances. It will take the whole community
working together to pull this off, Kraeger said. They then showed a video about the High School Rodeo
that gave an overview of how big it is and the atmosphere we will see when they come to Lincoln.

Dickerson began by telling where they are now and the progress they have made since being awarded the
original grant and bid to host the 2020 & 2021 rodeos. She talked about when they got the last $3M grant
and how they have been doing some creative and diverse things to make it last as long as possible. They
have used their own people to self-perform work rather than hire it out, they have been creative in finding
funding mechanisms for staffing and other programs, but what they are asking for now is a backstop for
overages in the project. They are requesting a $4.05M pledge from future VPC lodging tax funds as a



backstop funding guarantee. It would equal $600K/year in 2022-24 and $750K/year 2025-27. Dickerson
said this would allow the Ag Society to secure a bridge loan to complete final NHSFR preparations without
pause by June 2020. That would be an incentive for the Ag Society to complete fundraising as soon as
possible to reduce or avoid bridge finance costs that could be as much as $1.1 million. Lincoln not only
will be hosting the rodeo in 2020 and 2021, but now has locked it in for 2026 and 2027. The LEC beat out
Springfield, IL and incumbents Gillette, WY and Rock Springs, WY. Both Kansas and Missouri wanted it
and have been trying to get the rodeo to come to their facilities. Both states are working hard to get their
facilities up to par so they can get the rodeo to come to their cities. She noted that both of those facilities
are looking at funding sources from state government. The NHSFR will have a significant economic
impact on Lincoln. The visitors to our city will be here for up to two weeks. Most of them for 9 days. It
will bring in the 1,700 contestants and their families for an average of 8.12 days. That’s 6,576 vendor
nights and 8,887 out of town spectator nights and 99% of these are from outside of Nebraska. The overall
impact is estimated at $16M/year. Dickerson went on to say the Ag Society will need to complete
fundraising before the VPC grant funds flow in 2022. The LEC is looking to organize the community to
maximize economic impact with CVB/Chamber expertise. They want to have a Welcome to Lincoln for
the contestants and their families to begin the 2-week period and introduce them all to what Lincoln has to
offer. She is hoping to have the CVB and Chamber help with that.

Next, Dickerson talked about the improvements required to meet the NHSFR needs. They need an outdoor
covered grandstand and bleachers that will seat 5,000. Also, an expanded outdoor arena, livestock pens, an
east loop driveway and a south emergency exit. They need to get the campgrounds finished along the east
side so the young contestants can camp with their horses. The parents and families often stay in area hotels,
she said, but the kids like to stay with their horses. They need to add water and electricity to 200 permanent
campsites. Next Dickerson went through a timeline showing the progress since the June 2016 grant. They
were selected as a finalist in July 2016 and awarded the bid in January 2017. The grant funds were
available in March of 2017. That was when they first could have the engineering firm, REGA, begin the
design — it is 99% completed at this time. They decided to self-perform the electric and water to save
money. Construction grading began in mid to late 2018 and is 90% completed. So far, she said, 100% of
the campground drainage system is working, the electric towers are complete, 90% of the campground
electric/water supplies are purchased, 30% of the electric/water has been installed by the LEC crews and
100% of the seed is purchased and 90% first time seeded. To be completed still are 70% of the
campground, the emergency egress road, covered grandstand & guest service buildings, lights, livestock
panels, outdoor stalls and some re-seeding. Most of these will be done by the LEC crew. Dickerson said
they need more time and that is why this funding will help with their work on other grants, fundraising and
booking other events. She asked if anyone had questions.

Amundson asked if the contract could be modified or if they have asked for modifications. Cusick-
Rawlinson said NHSFR are willing to work with them. The LEC has less campsites than originally
requested, and the number of stalls has decreased. The rodeo is bringing in half of their own stalls as part
of negotiation. The LEC need to have the revenue to host the rodeo and NHSFR agreed to allow LEC to
host the event themselves Cusick-Rawlinson said they have worked hard to sharpen their pencil on the
budget and understand that questions have been raised but they are comfortable with the budget numbers
presented. Wiltgen asked if they are looking for other funds to cover the $1.1 million in bridge financing
and what is the relationship to the financing to the grant request. Dickerson stated that it will be similar to
the previous grant. The grant funding tells the bank they have funds in place to help keep revenue flowing
in. She said if they get the grant, they will look into a NIFA loan for tax exemption. They are still looking
into other sources for funding, including through the city but they are not at liberty to discuss this at this



time. They continue to look at sponsorships as well as their current budget and ways that their staff can
save by self-performing work. Stitt asked if the $3M grant would be paid out by January 2020. Dickerson
said yes and that she has spoken with Eagan to discuss there being two grants at the same time, but one
will expire shortly. Stitt noted this grant request says they will not submit future applications related to the
project and asked if the original grant request said the same thing. Dickerson said both applications say
they will not ask to submit future applications but that this was not expected. Cusick-Rawlinson said the
Ag Society is looking into other financial options for future projects. Stitt finished with asking what
media buys comprise of the budget on page four of her application. Dickerson answered that the $211,000
from Nebraska Tourism Commission can only be out-of-state media purchases and referred Stitt to page
eleven of the application which goes into more detail on the marketing plan. Madsen asked how many
additional seats the improvements would add. Dickerson explained the layout on the facility map and
answered with 6,000 total; 5,000 outside and 1,000 inside. Madsen followed with questioning if this was
enough seating. Kraeger said yes based on their current attendee numbers but hope to see an increase in
spectators with the move to Lincoln. Stitt asked how they came up with the $375/night per person of
impact and if that figure was hotel rate alone. Dickerson said that was based on the economic impact used
on the grant application and would be the average daily spending of each person attending. Stitt noted the
2,700 room night figure used in the application for quarter horse events and asked the other hotels if they
see an impact as he does not at his property. Madsen stated she would not know unless they booked in a
group but believes the outlying hotels fill first, and then the downtown will fill with compression. Kraeger
said you may not know they are here with the rodeo because they don’t all dress like cowboys. Some are
horse owners or other family members and may not have the boots and hat. Only the contestants will wear
their numbers. Dickerson added that the vendors are high-end who will want to stay downtown and this is
why it is important for there to be a “Welcome to Lincoln’ event to get people downtown to see everything.
She said that potential hotel packages could be created for the event. Morgan asked about the 4% lodging
tax and how much of that goes to the grant fund. Meyer answered that 2% of the county tax collection go
into the Visitor Improvement Fund and 2% is used to run the CVB with the promotion fund. Morgan asked
if the two most expensive improvements being requested were drainage and electrical. Dickerson said they
are working on electric and drainage which had the most surprises. They’d like to use their own system,
but the engineers said they can’t do that because it was removing too much soil. They need to use a better
system which increased cost and they continue to battle some of the city codes they are being required to
adhere to. Morgan wondered why there can’t be more temporary electrical instead of permanent. Kraeger
said that is just not cost effective — the have checked into it. The price is $300/spot and ultimately
$600/spot when you factor fuel to run generators. Stitt asked if there is an option to break up the $4M to
just give a portion now for the 2020 rodeo. Dickerson said no, they need it now for the backstop and the
improvements are needed for the first rodeo. She stated that several people have asked if there can be
additional cuts to the plans and she said they have already made cuts including removing security lights in
the grass camp sites. Dickerson stated that this $7 million investment will bring a $64 million return, with
the potential for more. Perrett asked if the $4M is granted and the LEC gets other funding, does the fund
get some of the money back. Dickerson stated that potential funding sources of naming rights, higher
tickets sales, etc are possible. They are taking a big leap with this and suggest that any profits of over
$250,000 annually would be used to pay down the requested funds. Maul asked if this was profit from the
rodeo or LEC annual revenue. Dickerson answered $250,000 profit for LEC annually. She closed by
telling the Committee they must let the Rodeo commission know next week if they have the funding.
Being no further questions, Dickerson and her partners were dismissed, and the committee discussed.

Perrett began by asking Meyer what the county’s stake in the facility is. Meyer said there is no money that
comes from the County outside the improvement fund. Meyer mentioned that a JPA was created to allow



them to have levy authority for financing bonds. Amundson noted that LEC is its own entity. Morgan
wanted to know how we will know if they have any profit; who will be tracking the money and would this
condition be written into the grant contract. Eagan stated that this condition would need to be written into
the contract which makes him nervous. Meyer said it would need to be tracked better because the Ag
Society budget and bond payments are all in the same audit. Madsen asked what the current LEC profit is
which was answered at $200,000 annually. Morgan asked where they are at on phase 3 and bonds
associated with that.  Wiltgen said that when the previous grant was approved there was talk of phase 3
and if that happened, the remaining balance of funds from the improvement fund grant would go away.
phase 3 bonds would take a voter approval with a bond issue. Wiltgen stated the county board encouraged
her to not rely on phase 3. Amundson said that phase 3 is in the future and the focus needs to be on
NHSFR. Phase 3 would require a vote of the public and would require an increase in property taxes.

Stitt asked if there is a goal to get more back on the investment of the improvement grant as they currently
only show that $1.3 million has been returned. Wiltgen said you look at the quality of life. He said it’s very
difficult to quantify if it’s been paid back. Amundson said you’re not really comparing dollar to dollar. We
are getting people here and this will get us recognition across the country. Perrett stated it is easy to not
know what you don’t know and that is not confident in their sponsorship and fundraising. She questioned
what the future looked like for LEC beyond the improvement fund. Ireland said there is uncertainty when it
comes to future endowments or statute changes that could be used as future funding mechanisms for LEC.
Ireland went on to say there are guidelines set by the VPC that say applicants cannot ask for funding for the
same project twice and that we need to careful of the precedent we would be setting by granting this. Stitt
asked next where do other county fairgrounds get funding for their buildings? Wiltgen said fundraising
usually. There is an ad hoc committee that has been established to identify the need for long term strategy
on identifying other financial models. Wiltgen stated that the LEC has depended only on government
financing through bonds and VPC funds up to this point. Meyer said that other counties have higher
property tax levy lids allowing them to get bigger draws. He used Seward County as an example of a
county that has a higher lid than Lancaster County. Eagan said that the current levy lid was established
when the Lancaster County Fair was held on the old state fairgrounds and did not need as much revenue.
Stitt asked if the property tax levy lid could be changed. Meyer said this would require a statutory change
on the state level.

Morgan said if the rodeo would be lost if this grant is not approved. Amundson stated yes it will be lost
and that LEC needs to let NHSFR know soon if they are unable to host. She went on to say that the AG
Society now feels the pressure to go raise money and do professional fundraising. LEC currently brings
$40 million in economic impact and is going to try to get big fundraisers to help them according to
Amundson. Wiltgen asked about the $1.1 million bridge loan financing and if that is what is needed to get
the $4 million bridge loan. Meyer confirmed that the $1.1 million is the financing for the $4.05 million
loan which is not incorporated into this grant request. Maul asked about the revenue projections in future
years. There are currently $689,000 in future obligations and this request will leave only $600,000 to give
out annually for future requests. He asked Meyer to confirm this. Meyer confirmed this but said his
estimates on revenue may need to be adjusted for slightly less to be collected but that the figure does take
into account the bid fees and minor grant requests. Madsen asked him what future projects may be
making an ask of the fund. Maul said there have been no official requests submitted but is aware of
projects that are being discussed in the community. Eagan noted that if the fund becomes tight that the bid
fees currently used from the improvement funds could be eliminated and the CVB could use a surplus from
the promotion fund for additional bid fee requests. Stitt asked how the promotion fund gets replenished.
Eagan stated that both funds equally replenish from the 2% tax each year. Wiltgen said that the county
and the chamber agreement allows bid fees to be used from the improvement fund to protect the promotion



fund for lean years. Meyer said that there currently is a $1 million surplus in the promotion fund.

Stitt asked if there is a way the LEC can match a certain dollar amount each year. Wiltgen said that was
included in the last $3 million grant and LEC was encouraged to fundraise which did not happen. Eagan
said this was encouraged but was not included in the contract. Stitt asked if this match was required in this
grant request, what would happen if they did not match. Eagan said it would be a breach of contract.
Madsen noted that there has been discussion on an investment from UNL. Amundson said UNL has
discussed putting a stalling barn down there which would be additional revenue and there is also discussion
of the retail corner. Ireland acknowledged that LEC presented a proposed motion but reminded the VPC
they were not required to follow it. She asked if there is anybody who wanted to make a motion. Morgan
worried again about setting a precedent. Wiltgen pointed out that the reason the guideline was created was
due to LEC’s last grant request where they asked for funds before a previous major grant was paid out.
Eagan said there were others who did this as well and not just LEC. Amundson this grant would not begin
to pay out until 2022 when the other grant would be finished. Eagan read the guidelines to the committee
created in 2017. Ireland stated that the VPC serves in an advisory capacity and reminded the committee
that this is only a recommendation to the county. Eagan noted a recommendation one way or the other
must be made to pass it along to the County to consider it. Stitt asked how many times a recommendation
of the VPC was overturned by the county board. Eagan and Wiltgen both said it has only happened a few
times. Maul reminded everyone that this is a recommendation from the VPC, which represents various
industries of the hospitality industry. Wiltgen encouraged the VPC to make a recommendation based on
how they felt, and not by how they think the county board will vote. Cunningham asked for clarification
that based on the current guidelines, LEC should not be able to ask for another grant until the current
multi-year grant has been paid out. Eagan said it would be against the guidelines to grant it. Cunningham
said he agreed with the grant request but does not want to break the guidelines. Eagan noted that these are
guidelines and non-binding like laws are. Wiltgen said the guidelines need to be addressed again in the
future. Amundson asked if the county would be the ones to change the guidelines. Eagan said that both
the VPC and county would need to amend them.  Stitt said if the grant doesn’t pass and the 2020 rodeo
pulls out of Lincoln, there is no way they would come in 2021 because it’s a 2-year contract. Feyerherm
said that is correct and it would likely put the 2026 and 2027 contracts in jeopardy to. Wiltgen noted a
community in Illinois had to pull out due to financial reasons previously and NHSFR does not consider
future bids from them. Wiltgen also noted there is a $250,000 penalty if LEC pulls out of the current
contract. Amundson said this could put a black spot on Lincoln. Ireland asked for clarification that this is a
$250,000 penalty for breach of contract. Maul said yes but that the bid fee offered by the CVB is
refundable in the event the rodeo is cancelled. Madsen said that the CVB must have been confident in this
event to offer $100,000 in bid fees back in 2016. Maul said that it was a team effort and the rodeo is a big
deal. Cunningham said it would be bad to pull out. Morgan asked if we can word it to not be against the
fund guidelines? Madsen said she is trying to make a motion with wording to waive the rule. Eagan said
that the motion should include acknowledging going against the guideline. Ireland asked if this could be
one motion instead of two with one being for the observance of the guidelines and the other, the
recommendation. Eagan said it should all be one motion. Morgan said the grant won’t be awarded until
January 2022. Stitt said he still worried about the ability of LEC to raise funds in the future as he believed
they needed to do their part and contribute to the funds requested. Morgan said that since he joined the
VPC, the LEC is always asking for more money once their previous grants are done. Eagan said that in
the past, asks were for projects that should be part of standard depreciation which is why the guidelines
were changed to the fund being used for capital improvements. Maul said he is hearing from the committee
the need to revise the guidelines again. Eagan said probably so, yes. Stitt asked if LEC had money for other
improvements needed associated with the rodeo. Madsen and Wiltgen both said that it appears they only



have money for marketing. Amundson said this is an investment in Lincoln and is significant to east
Lincoln specifically. Cunningham said he sees this as a reinvestment of fairgrounds lost when the state
fair moved. Morgan questioned whether the VPC would have originally agreed to a $7 million request
back in 2016. Eagan stated it would have depended on the fund balance at that time and what projects
were obligated to be paid out. Wiltgen said the county board saw the importance of the project being
finished by the time of the first rodeo. Stitt asked if there is a way to write in the contract that LEC profits
go back to the improvement fund. Eagan said he and Meyer have spoken about this and they both see it
would be difficult to analyze their profit. Maul stated that with the difficult tracking mechanism is put in
front of the committee, they need to look at the total request. Madsen asked if everyone thinks Dickerson
will come back for more money and Amundson said she won’t need to.

Perrett made a motion that despite the grant request coming before the existing grant request is paid out in
full, I move that a grant totaling $4.05 million dollars be approved for the Lancaster Event Center
fairgrounds capital improvements required by the NHSFR contracts for the four rodeos between 2020-
2027. The grant to be paid $600,000 per year 2022-2024 and $750,000 per year 2025-2027. Cunningham
seconded the motion. Ireland asked if there was any other discussion. Morgan asked if the profit turnback
was in the motion. Ireland said no. Being no further discussion, Ireland called for a vote. Cunningham,
Madsen, Morgan and Perrett voted yes. Ireland and Stitt voted no. Dickerson was absent. Motion carried.

New Business:
There was no new business to be discussed.

Adjourn:
Morgan made a motion to adjourn the meeting and Madsen seconded the motion. Being no further

discussion, Ireland called for a vote. Cunningham, Perrett, Stitt, Madsen, Morgan and Ireland voted yes.
Dickerson was absent. Motion carried. The meeting was adjourned at 3:33 p.m.



